
EDIC MEETING 
Tuesday, June 27, 2023 – 1:00 p.m. 

City Commission Chambers, Fargo City Hall 

AGENDA 

1. Approve Tax Exempt Review Committee Meeting Minutes of 5/23/2023
a. May 23, 2023 [Page 1-2]

2. Criteria for Public Private Partnerships [Page 3-5]

3. Wave PILOT Request [Page 6-10]
a. PFM 'But-For' Report [Page 11-18]



ECONOMIC AND DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE COMMITTEE 
Fargo, North Dakota 

Regular Meeting    Tuesday, May 23, 2023 

The April meeting of the Economic and Development Incentive Committee of the City of Fargo, 
North Dakota was held in the City Commission Room at City Hall at 1:00 p.m., Tuesday, May 23, 
2023. 

The committee members present or absent are: 

Members Present: Dave Piepkorn, John Cosgriff, Jon Eisert, Mayor Mahoney, Jim Buus and Jessica 
Ebeling.  

Members Absent: Lucas Paper 

Others Present:  Jackie Gapp and Levi Bachmeier 

Commissioner Piepkorn called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m. 

Minutes Approved 

A motion was made by John Cosgriff to approve the minutes from May 23, 2023.  Jon Eisert 
seconded.   Motion carries. 

Request for TIF for 502 8th Street Rowhouses 

• Dave Noah- Real Estate Associate
• 5 Townhouse style apartments (3 bed/3.5 bath).  Designing them to sell as individual 

properties in the future.
• Project would not be feasible without TIF assistance
• Asking for a 15 year TIF- $300,000
• Current property tax range is around $2,000. When it expires it will be closer to 

$25,000.
• Property is not in the Renaissance Zone

Motion to approve tax exemption was made by Mayor Mahoney.  Jessica Ebeling seconded. Motion 
carries. 

Request for PILOT for Water Park 
• Blake Nybakken - EPIC Companies COF

EDIC 1



• 20 year PILOT: 2 lots.
• Parking ramp: 500 spots
• Private investors, private financing, and private maintenance/management
• Would pay about $24,000 annually. After PILOT would be $1.1 million annually in property 

tax
• Water park and hotel with 135 rooms
• Family entertainment center, family bar and restaurant.
• Timeline is by the end of July

Questions: 
• Mayor Mahoney: Will a 15 year PILOT work?

o No, it will not
• John Cosgriff: Will there be free parking?

o The parking will be similar to downtown parking ramps. Cost has not been figured
out yet.

• Jessica Ebeling: Has a score sheet been done? Is this a need?
o A market study was done and the demand was very supportive of this study.

Change to the current policy needs to be discussed further. This will be continued to next meeting. 

The meeting was adjourned at 1:52pm. 

EDIC 2



EDIC 3



EDIC 4



EDIC 5



EDIC 6



EDIC 7

$1,181,518.47 
Corrected by assessor 



EDIC 8



EDIC 9



EDIC 10



FINAL 

City of Fargo, North Dakota 
PILOT Program 

“But-For” Report 

The Wave Resort 

June 20, 2023 

EDIC 11



Table of Contents 

Page

1. Purpose 1 

2. Project 2 

3. Assistance Request 3 

4. Project Financing 5 

5. Return Analysis 6 

6. Conclusion 7

EDIC 12



 

 
 

City of Fargo, North Dakota EPIC Companies Report|1 

Purpose 
 
The purpose of this report is to establish and determine the necessity of Payment In Lieu Of Taxes (PILOT) 
financing for The Wave Resort, at 2424 45th St. SW, a development by EPIC Companies (the “Developer”).  
 
PFM first reviewed the application to ensure that reasonable assumptions regarding property value, hotel 
occupancy, waterpark sales, income from guest amenities, expenses, and debt were used by the 
Developer. Based on those assumptions, PFM projected a 10-year cash flow, calculating an internal rate 
of return (“IRR”). The following report details PFM’s analysis and conclusions concerning the viability of the 
proposed project without the subsidy.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 
EDIC 13



 

 
 

 City of Fargo, North Dakota EPIC Companies Report |2 

Project 
 
The project being proposed by the Developer includes the development of a 135-unit hotel with an indoor 
waterpark and parking ramp located at 2424 45th St. SW. The Developer is requesting PILOT assistance 
through annual property tax savings for 17 years. If the Developer does not receive PILOT financing 
assistance, they estimate that the construction of the parking ramp will not be economically viable, and the 
Developer would instead include surface parking, which would reduce the available parking space at the 
property for future development. 
 
The Developer estimates the construction will be completed in late 2024 with occupancy immediately 
following. The Developer has requested PILOT financing assistance in the amount of $9,741,841on a 
present value basis to complete the project. This amount is based on projections of the future tax payments 
less the projected PILOT payments. The estimated tax payments assume a property value increase of 
1.00% per year. This amount assumes PILOT for 17 years. 
 
PFM also calculated the value of PILOT financing assistance if the City offered the PILOT for 10 years and 
no exemption thereafter. The present value of the PILOT financing assistance would be $6,527,307. 
   

 
EDIC 14



 

 
 

 City of Fargo, North Dakota EPIC Companies Report |3 

Project Financing 
 
The Developer is investing 22% equity, or $17,000,000, and will be privately financing $60,469,220. A 
majority will be financed through the Bank of North Dakota. The remaining amount will be subordinate debt 
raised from investors. The Developer is additionally requesting PILOT assistance through annual property 
tax savings. The private financing is estimated to be a 25-year loan with an estimated interest rate of 7.0% 
resulting in an annual principal and interest payment of $4,831,759.15. The application states the project 
will be completed by the late 2024. 
   

 
EDIC 15



 

 
 

 City of Fargo, North Dakota EPIC Companies Report |4 

Return Analysis 
 
In calculating the internal rate of return, PFM first analyzed the Developer’s assumptions including average 
rate per occupied night in the hotel, occupancy rate, and operating income and expenses. The Developer 
is proposing an average rate of $240.13 per occupied hotel room. The Developer has proposed a 
reasonable daily average rate for the current market and location. Annual estimates of operating expenses 
for the 135-unit resort with an indoor waterpark were provided, as follows; Rooms - $1,542,920, Food and 
Beverage - $2951,351, Guest Experience - $134,536, Retail - $676,286, Family Entertainment Center - 
$1,171,912, Waterpark - $1,622,935, Administration & General - $1,714,182, Information and 
Telecommunications - $105,624, Sales and Marketing - $1,097,693, Property Operations and Maintenance 
- $687,657, Utilities - $869,307, Resort Management Fee - $843,502, Insurance - $550,636, Snow Removal 
and Lawn Care - $60,000, Contract Services - $60,000, and Replacement Reserve - $422,355. The 
estimated property tax in PFM’s analysis, based on the market value of the resort and the location, is 
$844,235 without any public assistance. The total expenses are approximately 70% of gross operating 
income after stabilization. 
 
The second step in determining the internal rate of return is to determine the earned incremental value of 
the property over a 10-year period. That value, along with the net operating income cash flows, was used 
to calculate the internal rate of return. PFM determined that without public assistance the Developer would 
have about a 11.56% internal rate of return based on a 10-year internal rate of return. The Developer would 
have about a 15.25% internal rate for 10 years if it received the public assistance. PFM also looked at the 
rate of return over a 17-year period if PILOT was received for the full 17 years. The IRR in that case is 
projected to be 15.90%. Finally, the Developer expects to continue to raise more equity above the $17 
million that was used for this analysis. If the Developer were to raise $18.75 million in equity then the 10-
year IRR drops to 14.37% for a 10-year PILOT and the 17-year IRR drops to 15.32% for a 17-year PILOT. 
It should be noted that with the additional equity the loan amount drops which has a positive impact on the 
cash flow of the project and may slightly reduce the risk associated with the project. A reasonable rate of 
return for the proposed project is 14% - 22%.  
 
Another measure of feasibility and project viability is the debt coverage ratio. PFM received documentation 
from one of the Developer’s financing sources that a minimum of 1.50x debt coverage is necessary to 
secure the estimated loan interest rate. PFM has projected a maximum debt coverage ratio in Year 17 of 
1.65x without assistance, with a Year 3 coverage of 1.36x. The project would not meet the minimum 1.50x 
debt coverage until Year 7, but the project would meet 1.50x debt coverage each year thereafter. If the City 
provided assistance to the project for 17 years, the maximum debt coverage is projected to be 1.85x in 
Year 17, with a Year 3 coverage of 1.53x. If the City provided assistance to the project for 10 years, the 
maximum debt coverage is projected to be 1.75x in Year 10. After assistance would end, debt coverage in 
Year 11 is 1.57x and increases each year thereafter. 
 
Using PFM’s “without assistance” cash flow as the base scenario, PFM ran sensitivity analyses in order to 
determine if the project would be likely to occur without public assistance.  For the first sensitivity analysis, 
PFM analyzed how much project funds would have to decrease in order to produce a reasonable debt 
coverage ratio. We also looked at how much the average room rates would have to fluctuate in order to 
achieve a reasonable debt coverage. Lastly, we looked at a combination of the two scenarios. For the 
sensitivity analyses, we assumed a reasonable debt coverage ratio of 1.50x by Year 3. 
 
Sensitivity Scenario 1 – Project Costs 
 
The project would have to be reduced by $7,194,538 or 9.29% in order for the project to become viable 
without assistance. This reduces the amount to be financed from $56,969,220 to $51,678,509 and reduces 
the annual payment from $4,831,759 to $4,383,035 for the loan. It is unlikely that a reduction in project 
costs of this magnitude would occur at this stage in the development, but it would occur if the Developer 
provided a surface parking lot in lieu of a parking ramp 

 
EDIC 16



 

 
 

 City of Fargo, North Dakota EPIC Companies Report |5 

 
Sensitivity Scenario 2 – Average Daily Rates 
 
In order for the project to be viable without public assistance, the average daily rates would have to increase 
by 7.6%. PFM believes this is a high increase to the Developer’s proposed average rates. This increases 
annual room revenue from $8,306,349 to $8,940,910. PFM believes the current proposed rates are 
reasonable and does not believe an increase this large would occur. 
 
Sensitivity Scenario 3 – Combination of Project Costs and Average Daily Rates 
 
The final scenario looks at both a reduction of project costs and an increase in average daily rates. The 
analysis showed that project costs would have to be reduced by $3,708,272 or 4.8% and rates would have 
to increase by about 3.7%. PFM believes either of these events could occur. 
 
The above scenarios show the circumstances in which the project would become viable without public 
assistance. PFM has determined that the project is unlikely to occur “but-for” the public assistance.  

 
EDIC 17



 

 
 

 City of Fargo, North Dakota EPIC Companies Report |6 

Conclusion 
 
The Developer will bear all the risk involved with the project. The Developer is dependent on a number of 
factors before and after the project is completed, including project costs, occupancy of the resort, the 
hospitality market, and monthly expenses. The base scenario without assistance along with the sensitivity 
analyses demonstrates that the project as is with the parking ramp may be unlikely to be feasible without 
some form of assistance. 
 
PFM has calculated that with public assistance for at least 10 years, and based on the assumptions outlined 
in this report, a 10-year internal rate of return is estimated to be 15.25%. In addition, the coverage ratio in 
Year 10 is estimated to be 1.75x. The estimated internal rate of return is appropriate given the risk level for 
this type of project. Based on the information provided to PFM, the calculated internal rate of return and the 
coverage requirements, PFM concludes the project would not be feasible without public assistance in order 
to meet the minimum debt service coverage in the first six years and to produce a more reasonable rate of 
return for this type of project.   
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 
EDIC 18


	EDIC MEETING AGENDA 20230627
	20230523 MINUTES
	EDIC Memo - Policy Change
	PILOT Application packet_EPIC signed
	Fargo_City_of_PILOT_Report_Wave_Resort_6-20-23



